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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Good morning, my

          3  name is Councilman Charles Barron, and I am the

          4  Chair of the Higher Education Committee here at the

          5  City Council.

          6                 We want to welcome you to our

          7  Financial Hearing, our Budget Hearing for CUNY.

          8                 I want to welcome my colleagues who

          9  have been real champions of CUNY, have supported the

         10  institution over the years, and we have had a very,

         11  very successful year, in spite of the budget

         12  problems in the City over the last fourth year since

         13  we have been on this Committee.

         14                 I want to welcome Tony Avella, who is

         15  a new member of the Committee, and who is causing

         16  some concerns on this Committee because he tries to

         17  show up before the Chair, I think he is, I noticed

         18  that some of the Committee members used to sit on

         19  the other side, but now that Tony is here, they are

         20  all on this side. I just want to let him know that I

         21  am taking note of these things because these are

         22  very important to me.

         23                 Council Member Vacca, we want to

         24  thank you so much, from the Bronx, and Council

         25  Member Larry Seabrook from the Bronx, and Council
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          2  Member Gale Brewer who is one of my loyalist

          3  supporters on the Committee, who will not go for

          4  Tony's manipulations because she is very, very

          5  advanced in that way.

          6                 But, the people who do the real work,

          7  we do the fake work, it is the able- bodied staff in

          8  the City Council, and our new Policy Analyst, and I

          9  want to welcome you too, Shaniqua Awooso (phonetic),

         10  give her a big hand clap, she is our new Policy

         11  Analyst.  She will make me appear smarter than what

         12  I really am, and we appreciate that, and to the

         13  Finance Department staff, the Assistant Director,

         14  LaTonya McKinney (phonetic), give her a big hand

         15  clap for all of the work she does.  And by the way,

         16  I measure hand claps, the intensity of the hand clap

         17  lets me know the kind of personality that you have,

         18  and the kind of commitment you have to the people

         19  that I am asking you to give the hand clap to so,

         20  hand clap intensity and the repetitions or the

         21  amount of times that you clap will also be a

         22  measure.  But I want to give Veronica McNeill

         23  (phonetic) a big hand clap.  This is very good.

         24                 Chancellor, did you clap?  I am just

         25  checking.
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          2                 Also, on a very serious note, I want

          3  to express my condolences to Jay Hirschenson, the

          4  passing of his mother.  We wish you all the

          5  blessings, and any assistance that we can give you

          6  in your time of bereavement.  This Committee will

          7  certainly be there for you.  You have been a real

          8  champion, and you have shared some of the words of

          9  wisdom that your mother gave you, never be in awe of

         10  anybody, and you certainly are not.  And many of us

         11  are not, so God bless you, and we wish you the best.

         12                 With that, I just want to do my

         13  opening remarks.

         14                 Today we will be reviewing the

         15  projected budget of the City University of New York

         16  for the coming Fiscal Year 2007. Chancellor Matthew

         17  Goldstein has been invited to testify before the

         18  Committee on the University's Proposed Expense and

         19  Capital Budget's, and their impact on CUNY students,

         20  faculty, administrative services and staffing.

         21                 Before we begin, I would like to

         22  acknowledge my colleagues, and I did that.

         23                 For decades CUNY has been a model of

         24  public education, and has pursued its historic

         25  mission of serving the educational needs of its
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          2  urban community.  It is this Committee's mandate to

          3  make sure that CUNY is able to continue its laudable

          4  mission of serving all of New York City students,

          5  students of all races, classes, and gender.

          6                 During last year's budget

          7  negotiations, the City Council successfully diverted

          8  cuts to the Peter Vallone Academic Scholarship, the

          9  Community College Safety Net Program and various

         10  other council- funded initiatives.

         11                 Once again, despite the Council's

         12  best efforts, the Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget, as

         13  proposed by the Mayor, does not restore $57 million

         14  in hidden cuts to CUNY, thus, we commence an annual

         15  budget dance, a process by which the Council

         16  restores or adds money to the budget for vital needs

         17  and services, and Administration refuses to baseline

         18  it.

         19                 As the Chair of this Committee, we

         20  want to end this budget dance and give CUNY students

         21  what they rightly deserve- a good education without

         22  the stress of worrying how much it will cost because

         23  everybody here supports free tuition, right

         24  Chancellor? This is the quietest this room has ever

         25  been, but free tuition we are certainly looking for
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          2  the fiscal feasibility of that, but we should not

          3  have to go through this annual budget dance, and put

          4  everybody on stress.  We have to fight to restore

          5  stuff, so, this Committee is looking forward to

          6  receiving testimony from the Chancellor, and see

          7  where we go from here.

          8                 I want to say this, that one of the

          9  things that this Committee has fought hard for since

         10  we have come in as members and as chair of this

         11  committee, and that is for a five- year commitment,

         12  capital commitment, from the City, and one of the

         13  things we are going to pat ourselves on the back and

         14  hold our heads up high for is that we got that

         15  capital commitment, and as we talk the $240 million

         16  that was sitting there, now the City has matched

         17  over the next five years, we are talking close to

         18  $602 million that now CUNY will be able to use as

         19  capital money.  We certainly want you to use it in a

         20  quick hurry, as we say, so they do not try to take

         21  anything back, but that is a crowning achievement

         22  for this Committee and for the City, and for CUNY.

         23  We led that charge when we first came in here, and

         24  now to say that we have succeeded in securing that,

         25  never in the history of New York City has this
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          2  happened, and I just want to thank my colleagues for

          3  your continued support, and that is the kind of work

          4  that we have to build on.  We got the capital, now

          5  we have got to see where we go from her.

          6                 With that, that was a major, major,

          7  major achievement, and just even trying to keep the

          8  Vallone Scholarship, so I know we started off at

          9  $5.5 million for two years, and then it went up to

         10  $7 million, and last year we got $11.4 million, we

         11  want to thank CUNY for parking the $28 million for

         12  the Workforce Development money, and working with

         13  us.  I have to give John Katowski (phonetic), where

         14  is he, a big hand clap for the work that he has

         15  done, and making sure when we receive that CSS

         16  Report that said nearly 50 percent of black males

         17  were unemployed and we led the charge, Larry

         18  Seabrook, myself, and others to get the $28 million,

         19  CUNY has been instrumental in housing it, and some

         20  of the CUNY programs will be working with the

         21  Workforce Development Program.  I want to let you

         22  know that that is moving very nicely. The money is

         23  starting to go out, the groups have been selected,

         24  and we are looking to continue support from the City

         25  Council on that wise.
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          2                 And then the $2 million for the Black

          3  Male Initiative that we secured, and the Chancellor

          4  was very, very supportive of that.  We want to thank

          5  you so much, and the City Council was very

          6  supportive of that, and that is moving well also.

          7                 So, for all of those things we think

          8  we are moving ahead but we have a lot more to do

          9  looking at the state cuts and calling for tuition

         10  increase, and so, those are some of the things we

         11  need to discuss and see how the City's budget can

         12  continue to support CUNY.

         13                 I thank you for that, and we will

         14  proceed with our testimony.

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you, and

         16  good morning.

         17                 Thank you, Chairman Barron, and

         18  members of the Higher Education Committee, and other

         19  members of the Finance Committee.

         20                 We very much appreciate and are

         21  grateful to all of you for your strong and long

         22  lasting advocacy of CUNY, and public higher

         23  education in general, and we look forward to working

         24  with the Council to ensure our continuing progress.

         25                 With your help, CUNY has taken great
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          2  strides in meeting our academic goals.  This past

          3  fall the University recorded its highest student

          4  enrollments in 30 years.  We now serve over 220,000

          5  degree- credit students and more than a quarter of a

          6  million adult and continuing education students, the

          7  highest number in this university's history.  We

          8  approve that raising academic standards results in

          9  more students, better prepared, and greater shares

         10  of students from selective public high schools.

         11  Award- winning students are competing successfully

         12  in state, national, and international arenas.

         13                 The new CUNY Graduate School of

         14  Journalism, which will open in 2006, I think is

         15  going to be a monumental addition to the

         16  extraordinary programs we have at this great

         17  university. Alumni are returning home, as

         18  demonstrated most recently by Intel co- founder

         19  Andrew Grove's $26 million gift to City College and

         20  last week's $7 million scholarship gift to CCNY by

         21  Yvette and Larry Gralla (phonetic).  The $1.2

         22  billion Campaign for the CUNY Colleges, launched in

         23  November of 2004, has already recorded more than

         24  $700 million in gifts.

         25                 These accomplishments have required
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          2  the efforts of the entire University, including

          3  CUNY's Board of Trustees, the college presidents and

          4  staff, and most especially, our accomplished

          5  students, faculty, and alumni.

          6                 Our community colleges have been

          7  leaders in this resurgence; they have recorded a 17

          8  percent increase in new students from 2001 to 2005

          9  and are managing the programs and services needed to

         10  support and challenge our students.  Through our

         11  Community College Investment Program, we have added

         12  300 full- time faculty to strengthen the colleges'

         13  scope and depth, and another 150 in academic support

         14  service personnel.

         15                 However, meeting the needs of our

         16  burgeoning student body remains a constant

         17  challenge.

         18                 The City Preliminary Budget for`07

         19  recommends city support for the community colleges

         20  of slightly over $137 million, which is slightly

         21  under $20 million less than the recommended`06

         22  budget.  At a time when the University is focused on

         23  growth, long term investment, and continued academic

         24  renewal, this proposed reduction is particularly

         25  discouraging.
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          2                 As all of you know, this year CUNY

          3  recommended a fresh approach to financing long- term

          4  investment in the University: The CUNY Compact.  The

          5  Compact calls for funding to be shared by the state

          6  and the city, the University, philanthropic sources,

          7  and students, through managed enrollment growth and

          8  modest, predictable tuition increases.  The Plan

          9  asks the state and the city to commit to fully

         10  funding the University's mandatory costs, and a

         11  portion of the programmatic priorities in our four-

         12  year academic plan.  The revenue from the increased

         13  tuition would go exclusively toward funding the CUNY

         14  investment initiatives, with recommendations from

         15  students and faculty, as would the philanthropic

         16  dollars and resources from internal efficiencies.

         17                 The CUNY Compact was unanimously

         18  adopted this past November by our Board of Trustees,

         19  and its approach has been praised by national

         20  education leaders and lauded by many state

         21  officials.  It offers a way to match our long- term

         22  academic plan to a long- term investment plan.

         23                 Increased city support for CUNY's

         24  community colleges through the Compact is critical

         25  to the University.  Only with the City's investment
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          2  in public higher education at CUNY can we trigger

          3  investments from other sources; only if the City

          4  makes public higher education a public priority can

          5  we expect other partners to do the same.  Our

          6  students, faculty, staff, alumni, friends and

          7  business partners have demonstrated renewed and

          8  generous support of the University, but we cannot

          9  expect them to shoulder a disproportionate share of

         10  funding this great public institution.

         11                 To that end Mr. Chairman and other

         12  members of the Committee, we must address the

         13  Preliminary Budget's recommended reduction in the

         14  community college's operating budget of $14.8

         15  million.  The reduction was restored by the Council

         16  and the Mayor on a one- time basis in FY`06, and we

         17  are requesting a permanent restoration to our

         18  budget.  This reduction strikes a blow to our

         19  community college's very basic operations, affecting

         20  their ability to offer classes when students need

         21  them, and to increase the percentage of instruction

         22  taught by full- time faculty.

         23                 Indeed, ensuring that these most

         24  basic needs are met is at the heart of our proposed

         25  Compact, wherein the state and the city would cover
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          2  the University's mandatory costs, allowing the

          3  University to focus on its programmatic costs, its

          4  real investment. We ask the Council's help in

          5  restoring these reductions and in enhancing

          6  operational support of CUNY by $12 million.  This

          7  funding will cover mandatory needs such as energy,

          8  building rentals, and fringe benefits, as well as

          9  provide the resources required to meet the

         10  priorities outlined in the University's Plan,

         11  including additional full- time faculty and academic

         12  and library support.

         13                 We are deeply concerned about, and

         14  opposed to, the proposed reductions of $11.4 million

         15  for the Peter F. Vallone City Council Scholarships,

         16  and $4.5 million for the New York City Council

         17  Safety Net Program, which would eliminate both

         18  programs.

         19                 In`04-`05, more than 10,000 students

         20  received Vallone Scholarships.  These scholarships,

         21  given to students who graduated with a B average

         22  from New York City high schools, and who maintain a

         23  B average at the University, encourage high-

         24  achieving students to stay in New York City to

         25  continue their education.
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          2                 In`04-`05, over 13,500 of our most

          3  needy community college students received funding

          4  from the Safety Net Program, helping them to

          5  continue their advanced studies at CUNY.

          6                 A loss of these programs, Mr.

          7  Chairman and members of the Committee, combined with

          8  the state's proposal to reduce financial assistance

          9  through the TAP, the Tuition Assistance Program,

         10  which was relied on by 83,000 CUNY students last

         11  year, would create an enormous burden on our most

         12  vulnerable students. The recommendations target

         13  those who are most deserving of help, often those

         14  who are already affected by federal financial aid

         15  policies that increasingly depend on loans instead

         16  of grants.  Our first priority must be to protect

         17  qualified students who cannot afford to attend

         18  college.

         19                 When I proposed CUNY's Compact, I

         20  emphasized that this would be a partnership, that

         21  this partnership would work only if our most needy

         22  students were held out of harm's way, that is, if

         23  their financial assistance protected them for even

         24  modest tuition increases.  We simply must strengthen

         25  our commitment to scholarship and assistance
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          2  programs if we are to maintain the promise of

          3  educational opportunity upon which so many of our

          4  students depend.

          5                 CUNY also faces the challenge, shared

          6  by universities across the country, of increasing

          7  the number and proficiency of students in science,

          8  math, and nursing programs. Nationally and locally,

          9  we depend more than ever upon the expertise and

         10  innovation of graduates in these fields.

         11                 I gave a speech the other day to the

         12  Workforce Investment Board, Mr. Chairman, and

         13  Commissioner Mullgrav mentioned to me at the end of

         14  that testimony that there are huge numbers of

         15  nursing positions needed to be filled in the Bronx,

         16  creating a desperate situation.  I am on two medical

         17  boards, and I can attest to that.  We must do

         18  something about nursing, providing more students,

         19  and getting more support for students to study

         20  nursing, and we deeply appreciate your interest in

         21  this particular problem.

         22                 At the culmination of the hearing

         23  that took place on February 26th Mr. Chairman, as

         24  you know, a hearing skillfully conducted by you in

         25  particular, this problem has far reaching effects on
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          2  our city and our population, and at the culmination

          3  of the hearing, Chairman Barron called for the

          4  University to encourage participation in these

          5  disciplines by proposing a stipend/scholarship

          6  program for students majoring in math, science and

          7  nursing.

          8                 To that end Mr. Chairman, we request

          9  an enhancement to the Preliminary Budget of $7

         10  million in order to create a much needed City

         11  College Science, Mathematics and Nursing Scholarship

         12  Initiative, through which we can offer financial

         13  assistance for students in good academic standing

         14  who major in these areas.

         15                 Growing enrollments have created

         16  additional challenges in providing student services

         17  at the community colleges. Many service programs

         18  have not had funding increases for many years, and

         19  rising demand has created a tremendous strain on

         20  these areas.  We are asking for a $3 million

         21  enhancement for counseling, student health centers,

         22  child care, women's programs and other student

         23  services.  We know that this is often vital programs

         24  that enable students to complete their studies in a

         25  timely way.
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          2                 I must also note that the Preliminary

          3  Budget eliminates funding for important initiatives

          4  across the University, including our Black Male

          5  Initiative, which you talked about briefly, Mr.

          6  Chairman, which is already under way throughout

          7  CUNY, the center for Worker Education, the Dominican

          8  Studies Institute, the Puerto Rican Studies

          9  Institute, the Creative Arts Team, the Immigration

         10  Center, and many others.  These programs and centers

         11  serve thousands of students, faculty, and community

         12  members, providing opportunities, often for

         13  underserved communities, to gain access to advanced

         14  study and career development, and we ask that their

         15  funding be restored.

         16                 On the capital side, last year the

         17  University was deeply please to received, for the

         18  first time, a multi- year appropriation from the

         19  city, and we deeply thank the Council for their help

         20  in making that happen.  We know that your support

         21  and recommendations were very influential in the

         22  Mayor's decision to make that important

         23  appropriation, and we are deeply grateful for your

         24  work on the University's behalf.

         25                 As you know, we received multi- year
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          2  appropriations from the state in 1998 and 2003 for

          3  the community colleges and Medgar Evers College.

          4  These commitments to five- year capital plans allow

          5  the University to plan and implement building

          6  projects with certainty, something that is not

          7  possible when funding assurances are limited to the

          8  existing budget year.  Additionally, we greatly

          9  appreciate the support CUNY receives each year

         10  through appropriations directly from the City

         11  Council and the Borough Presidents.

         12                 At this time, the Capital Program for

         13  the community colleges and Medgar Evers totals $602

         14  million.  Even with this substantial program,

         15  however, the colleges' capital needs are still not

         16  being met.  In particular, we need $14 million for

         17  two specific projects:  The replacement of Fiterman

         18  Hall for Borough of Manhattan Community College, and

         19  the construction of Academic Building I at Medgar

         20  Evers College.  These additional funds are necessary

         21  to address higher estimates for the cost of

         22  demolition and hazardous materials abatement at

         23  Fiterman Hall, which we will be taking down in a

         24  very controlled way, and to address cost escalations

         25  impacting the construction industry, further
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          2  exacerbated by the effects of Hurricanes Katrina and

          3  Rita, and the reconstruction efforts in the Gulf

          4  region.

          5                 During recent negotiations with the

          6  state legislature, the University was encouraged to

          7  anticipate additional funds from the state this

          8  year.  Our request includes $29 million that will be

          9  distributed across the community colleges for

         10  projects at the campuses, including continuing work

         11  at Center 3 at LaGuardia Community College, the

         12  Science Building at Queensborough Community College,

         13  and the Chambers Street Building at BMCC.  At

         14  Kingsborough, Bronx, and Hostos Community Colleges,

         15  the funds will address mechanical infrastructure

         16  issues.

         17                 The University has requested $107.6

         18  million in FY`07 in construction and equipment

         19  projects for both the senior and community colleges

         20  from the City Council and Borough Presidents. These

         21  funds are requested for "quality of life" projects,

         22  including renovations of classrooms, laboratories,

         23  and study and community spaces throughout the

         24  campuses, as well as site improvements and

         25  technology upgrades.
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          2                 The City's match of the new state

          3  funds being requested is critical to our ability to

          4  move forward on these projects.  Our community

          5  colleges and Medgar Evers College serves more than

          6  51,000 full- time equivalent students in 112

          7  buildings comprising more than 7.1 million gross

          8  square feet, and substantial commitments are

          9  required to maintain physical plants of this size.

         10                 Providing our students and faculty

         11  with well equipped facilities, as well as the

         12  programs and academic support they need, is

         13  fundamental to this University's mission.

         14                 Chairman Barron, other members of the

         15  Committees, and other members connected with this,

         16  we deeply appreciate all you have done to assist us

         17  in this regard, and we look forward to continuing to

         18  build on our productive partnership.

         19                 Thank you for giving me the

         20  opportunity to testify this morning, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you

         22  very much for that testimony.

         23                 I want to also mention a hard working

         24  member of our Finance staff, who was very, very

         25  instrumental in helping us to secure the five- year
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          2  capital commitment, and that is Mr. Jeff Rodus, I

          3  just wanted to make sure that we do not leave him

          4  out.  And Jeff was constantly talking to me about

          5  the numbers, and the importance of keep pushing it

          6  out there, so we had a very powerful team to make

          7  that commitment of the $602 million, and we know we

          8  have to have to even do better.  We certainly are

          9  making a commitment to do that.

         10                 I just have a couple of questions.

         11                 One, the $7 million that you are

         12  requesting for the nursing students, how many

         13  students- how would that impact in a positive way?

         14                 What will that enable us to do in

         15  terms of numbers of students?

         16                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have

         17  approximately 24,000 students throughout the

         18  University, community colleges, senior colleges

         19  involved in programs that would be included under

         20  that umbrella.  It is a fairly large cohort of

         21  students.  We are working through the numbers now

         22  with respect to how we can reach as many of those

         23  students as we can.  Our need, really, is to

         24  maintain the students in these programs, make sure

         25  that they make adequate progress towards their
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          2  degrees, and if we are able to reach that many

          3  students, it would have a profound impact on this

          4  University, and on the City, and our society in

          5  general.  We would have to work out the mechanics of

          6  how the program would be parameterized in terms of

          7  the overall amount of funding, the kind of academic

          8  progress that the students would have to make, and

          9  the levels of support.  So, that $7 million is a

         10  modest kind of number that could be massaged,

         11  depending upon how many students we reach, and the

         12  kinds of requirements we embed into the program.

         13  So, it is a ballpark figure but that gives you a

         14  sense of magnitude.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just think

         16  that that is so important.  I really want to spend a

         17  lot of time this year looking at math, science and

         18  nursing because I think the governor has made a

         19  commitment to, at least, the math's and science

         20  students, and SUNY and CUNY getting free tuition, to

         21  commit to work in New York City schools but we have

         22  to have nursing included in that, and one of things

         23  I will be going to Albany on is that question of

         24  talking to some of the legislators to see if that

         25  can happen.  But this seems like a reasonable
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          2  request from the City, and I think it is very

          3  reasonable with a $55.5 billion budget, and

          4  surpluses during this budget year, even though we

          5  are rolling it over to`07, to do some balancing of

          6  the budget there.

          7                 There has been a lot of money flowing

          8  around in this budget, and with having the new

          9  Speaker of the City Council coming from the health

         10  field, and formally heading up the Health Committee,

         11  I am going to be pushing very hard for that one

         12  because I think it is a reasonable request, and I

         13  think it would have a profound impact.

         14                 Before I get to my colleagues, I just

         15  want a few more questions.

         16                 The state did not accept the Compact

         17  Program, correct?  Or are they still looking at it?

         18  What is the status of that, and if they do not, what

         19  happens if they do, what happens, where are we with

         20  that?

         21                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Let me first

         22  describe what the Compact is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Sure.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  It is an

         25  economic model that is based on really just the
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          2  foundational principles that economics is about.  It

          3  is about largely creating incentives for people and

          4  institutions to do good things in society, it is

          5  also about creating incentives to discourage people

          6  and institutions to do bad things that happen in

          7  society.  Using that as the foundation, the Compact

          8  is an approach based on that very fundamental

          9  principle of economics that asks the following

         10  question:  How can we get investment into the

         11  University and understand the realistic constraints

         12  that we have from the various kinds of revenue

         13  sources?            Certainly that state and the

         14  city, what the University can do, what we can raise

         15  in private money, and what we might ask students to

         16  do provided that no student is held in harms way.

         17  That for me, was the line that would not be crossed.

         18    So we presented what I thought was a very prudent

         19  and fresh approach, very different from the way

         20  state budgets have been devised in the past to

         21  support investment in the University, and we have

         22  found, Mr. Chairman, year in and year out, you talk

         23  about a budget dance, well there is a different kind

         24  of budget dance that has occurred in Albany for many

         25  years.  That is that financial aid was attacked, all
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          2  of the sectors joined hands and got TAP restored,

          3  and then people felt that they did enough for the

          4  University, and they went on for the other

          5  legitimate needs that you have in society.  That

          6  approach has always compromised this University

          7  because we have never had operating aid enhanced for

          8  the true investment that we need.

          9                 So this year proposing this

         10  particular idea, the governor in his Executive

         11  Budget, very strongly embraced this idea, and used

         12  very, very complimentary language in the budget

         13  message. The state is only a small- is one player,

         14  each leveraging from different stakeholders, so the

         15  governor has proposed a budget coming out of the

         16  gate, which is probably the strongest position we

         17  have seen in many years in terms of real investment

         18  in the University.  It does not go nearly as far.

         19  The Assembly has enhanced through a one- conference

         20  bill dollars that will go much, much further towards

         21  supporting the Compact, and my understanding is that

         22  the Senate is doing the same thing.

         23                 One of the things that they are both

         24  proposing in their one- conference bills is that the

         25  state pick up the full $300 for tuition that was
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          2  proposed by the governor for CUNY, and the $500 that

          3  was proposed for the state.  I think that is a good

          4  thing.  The idea that tuition would be picked up

          5  would be great, provided that there is also the

          6  commitment for the operating aid. If we do not get

          7  the operating aid, we are still back in exactly the

          8  same position.  So the Compact is a way for us to

          9  manage all of those different requirements in a

         10  prudent and thoughtful way.

         11                 That is where we are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So basically, we

         13  are still waiting to see what the Senate is going to

         14  do.

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, they

         16  have one- each conference has reported out--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, they

         18  reported out.

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: -- great

         20  enhancements over what the governor has proposed,

         21  then the conferences will join together and come out

         22  with an omnibus bill, and hopefully, we will be in a

         23  much stronger position than we have been in a while

         24  but this is a University with great needs, Mr.

         25  Chairman.  Even with the recommendations, we still
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          2  have major challenges that are still going to be

          3  unmet.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well you know,

          5  as this Committee had hearings on the Compact, and

          6  you know our concerns even though it is incremental

          7  increases of tuition, we are trying to get to free

          8  tuition, so you know we have some concerns there,

          9  and also I think that there will be some political

         10  changes in the future and we can say will be in

         11  terms of the governor, and I am just concerned that

         12  we do not let the state off the hook too much as we

         13  have this team of private sector philanthropical

         14  given tuition, revenue, and state and city-

         15  sponsored commitments to that because I think we

         16  have got to get to the point, and this will be a

         17  long- range kind of struggle, where the state's $142

         18  billion budget with, I think, a $2.47 billion

         19  surplus that we have to begin to put the kind of

         20  pressure on the state where as fine as the Compact

         21  may sound in terms of teamwork, I think there should

         22  be a greater commitment coming from the state, and I

         23  would not want to do anything to let them off the

         24  hook, especially when there may be some changes in

         25  the future, politically, where we might have even
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          2  greater support in the future.

          3                 With that being said, Fiterman Hall,

          4  where do we stand on that?  I noticed that you need

          5  what $14 million more for Fiterman Hall?  Where is

          6  that now?

          7                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Not $14

          8  million, the $14 million is for Fiterman and the

          9  academics.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And the

         11  academics.

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  There are cost

         13  escalations that we are all experiencing, the cost

         14  of steel, the cost of labor costs and the like.

         15                 Fiterman needs to be taken down

         16  meticulously.  It needs to be taken down

         17  meticulously because of the toxins that that

         18  building still has, and we have to be very careful

         19  with that, so, demolition and deconstruction of

         20  Fiterman Hall will require a little more money

         21  because, again, of cost escalations.  But we are on

         22  target, we are on schedule, we are moving ahead.  A

         23  building has been designed, and--.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  What is the

         25  timetable again on that?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, the-

          3  Emma what time --.

          4                 VICE CHANCELLOR MACARI: Emma Macari,

          5  Vice Chancellor of Facilities.

          6                 If we are going to start demolition

          7  in June --.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  In June.

          9                 VICE CHANCELLOR MACARI: -- we

         10  presented already in January our plan to EBA, and

         11  EBA is reviewing it, and we have heard some feedback

         12  that it is very positive, it is a very comprehensive

         13  plan but you know, it takes some time.  So as soon

         14  as we get approval, then we will wait the weeks law,

         15  so we will be able to get a contractor to get going

         16  fast, and it is an eleven- month work of demolition,

         17  like the Chancellor said it will have to be a very

         18  slow demolition.

         19                 So after that, it should be some time

         20  in the spring of next year we would start

         21  construction.  So hopefully, it is a two year

         22  construction but it is on target.

         23                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Mr. Chairman,

         24  I apologize for not introducing both of my

         25  colleagues, Ernesto Malave' our Vice Chancellor for
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          2  budget, finance and Emma Macari our Vice Chancellor

          3  for Construction Design at the University.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, I want to

          5  thank CUNY also and particularly Jay Hirschenson and

          6  Katowski who helped us very much with the students

          7  who were victims of Katrina.  The University really

          8  rose to the occasion, and we want to thank you so

          9  much, so we want to thank CUNY for providing tuition

         10  for 63 students who were with the families who were

         11  victims of the Katrina and the FEMA/Bush fiasco in

         12  the nation.

         13                 So, thank you so much, Chancellor and

         14  we want to thank you for your work on that, Jay you

         15  as well.

         16                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         17                 Larry.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Yes, thank

         19  you very much Mr. Chairman, and Chancellor, it is

         20  good to see you here and certainly commend the job

         21  that you all are doing, and to continue to stay in

         22  that direction.

         23                 I also applaud the initiative that

         24  you are talking about in terms of dealing with

         25  science, math and nursing.  I think it is important
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          2  but I think we need some clarification on that, and

          3  one is, it is good to talk about that in a larger

          4  sense but we have to look at it if- because here you

          5  say that those students in good standing and

          6  majoring in those areas, we need some sense of who

          7  qualifies for this because if it would be the same

          8  students who are also eligible for the Vallone

          9  Scholarships, who are eligible for this, and then we

         10  would always miss at the bottom.

         11                 This has to be an approach, and I

         12  think that everything that we do around this budget,

         13  and everything that we do with initiative, they talk

         14  about the City University, we have to take into

         15  context of the tremendous unemployment that we have

         16  in this City of African- American males, African-

         17  Americans in general, Latino males, Latino's in

         18  general, that there has to be something attached as

         19  to how do you go and deal with this level of pushing

         20  up from the bottom and not cherry- picking from the

         21  top.  And what has happened is that the bottom is

         22  always left out.  Thirty years ago, there was a

         23  shortage and concern about nurses and then there was

         24  the implementation and the initiatives by the

         25  community colleges to deal with this shortage, which
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          2  allowed tremendous amount of African- American

          3  females and males to come into the nursing field

          4  with an aggressive approach at Kingsborough, Bronx

          5  Community, et cetera, that was done and to see that.

          6                 We will have and when we look at

          7  science and math nationally, African- Americans and

          8  Latinos are at the bottom in terms of starting from

          9  elementary and into high school in terms of their

         10  math and science background, and so basically, they

         11  shy away and so, again, it is a cherry- picking

         12  because it is less of who is being picked.  So,

         13  there has to be something with this approach to talk

         14  about dealing with, and dealing on the level of the

         15  high school as it relates to allow a matriculation

         16  into this because if we are waiting until they get

         17  into college, there is less and less.             If

         18  you look at the number of students who are of

         19  African- American decent nationally, who get a B in

         20  math, a B in biology, a B in science, it is very

         21  low, and those who get A's are even less.

         22                 So, they are not in this pool, and we

         23  have to define what this pool- and there has to be

         24  something that says that if we are talking about the

         25  lack of representation, how do we target that lack
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          2  of representation to be put into this.

          3                 I have a problem with putting monies

          4  in, and to see that it would benefit the same people

          5  that we are saying about, we will start tracking

          6  again, zip codes, and find out who is getting these

          7  scholarships, and it will never ever catch up.

          8                 I like to look at this, Mr. Chairman,

          9  as a football draft.  The teams at the bottom get to

         10  pick first, then teams who finish at the top.  So,

         11  we have to direct how we spend this money, and to go

         12  out and again to bring in the under- represented in

         13  this area with an opportunity to participate.

         14                 So, I have a real concern about this

         15  without having an understanding with an attachment

         16  of how do we go from the bottom up, for

         17  participation because then all we are doing is

         18  enhancing a Vallone Scholarship without saying,`hey,

         19  we did what the intent and the mission of City

         20  University is, is the least of these will have an

         21  opportunity to participate.'  Good standing is fine,

         22  but I think if we also targeted some of this money

         23  with people who have opportunity to achieve good

         24  standing, it allows them that opportunity to go into

         25  a field that they- so that they would never get into
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          2  because they are stopped at the starting gate coming

          3  out of high school, and they do not have the

          4  credentials in terms of going in.

          5                 I think that this, for me, that my

          6  issue is that that money has to be addressed to deal

          7  with under- represented in these fields, in this

          8  diverse city, and that has to be an option that has

          9  to be attached to this, and I am going to say it

         10  until it is done.

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Councilman

         12  Seabrook, I could not agree more with you.  I think

         13  not only did you speak eloquently but I think you

         14  are really very much on target.  This is a deeply

         15  serious problem that we have in our society.  This

         16  is, in part, about the Black Male Initiative that we

         17  launched and which, I think, is going to result in

         18  important programs, and fresh ideas to address a

         19  problem that we have all been faced with.

         20                 You are absolutely right when you say

         21  that it has to start early, and identify people well

         22  before they even contemplate university life.

         23                 When I testified on Governor Pataki's

         24  budget, one of the central themes that I proposed in

         25  response to his recommended budget was a program
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          2  comparable to our College Now Program, which is

          3  very, very effective.  This is an early intervention

          4  program where we work with youngsters as early as

          5  the ninth grade to get them ready for collegiate-

          6  level work, and it has been a very, very successful

          7  program.  We have something like 55,000 students.

          8  The central theme in my testimony around science was

          9  a Science Now Program, which this will be very

         10  closely connected with.  We have to get into the

         11  schools at a very young age, and encourage people to

         12  think about science, and to get excited about

         13  science.  We also have an obligation at our

         14  university, since we provide about 30 percent of the

         15  new teachers every single year for the Department of

         16  Education.  We have to graduate a lot of teachers

         17  that are prepared, and excited about being science

         18  teachers.  We do not have enough students that are

         19  graduating today that are trained to be math

         20  teachers, biology teachers, physics teachers,

         21  chemistry teachers.

         22                 So, this is a very comprehensive

         23  program that has to start at a very early time in

         24  the development of a young person, and right through

         25  the university.  So, it is a continuum.  So, I think
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          2  you are right on the money here, and as we define

          3  and shape this component of what we are proposing,

          4  certainly those concerns are going to be very high

          5  on our agenda.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Because I,

          7  the experience that I have had, family members who

          8  had the opportunity, when there was a shortage and

          9  attended Kingsborough, attended Bronx Community

         10  College, and became registered nurses in this City,

         11  when there was a need and the opportunity existed

         12  there, and so I would hope that we would afford

         13  those people who we can begin to take in, track,

         14  nurture in such a way that we will have at the end

         15  result, that these are people who are back in their

         16  communities where they live, and doing a service

         17  which is so desperately needed.

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I agree.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Council Member

         22  Vacca.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Yes,

         24  Chancellor, I want to echo your remarks regarding

         25  College Now and the support components that CUNY has
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          2  built into that program for the students over many

          3  years.

          4                 There are just several areas that I

          5  want to touch on.  I am concerned as our Chairman is

          6  concerned about tuition.  I am also concerned about

          7  TAP and part- time students.

          8                 As you may know, many of our part-

          9  time students today are working.  They work two

         10  jobs, and they are trying to finish their BA, they

         11  have families at home, they have commitments. My

         12  concern is that TAP does not treat part- time

         13  students the same way it treats full- time students,

         14  and I wanted to know in Albany, I guess, at that

         15  level is this being considered at this point due to

         16  the changing demographics we have as to who our

         17  students are at CUNY?

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have a very

         19  successful aid program that is funded through TAP

         20  for part- time students, only at this university.

         21  It was proposed, it was implemented and executed

         22  well.  We have proposed expanding that particular

         23  program and I think that we will get consideration

         24  for doing that.

         25                 I think the most fundamental problem
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          2  that we have in the TAP recommendations, coming out

          3  of the governor's office is one that would have a

          4  really chilling effect on this university and I am

          5  delighted that both the Senate and the State and the

          6  Assembly Conference Committees have made

          7  recommendations to change those particular

          8  recommendations.  But we have to be very concerned,

          9  and everything that we do with this University is

         10  meticulously addressing the need of students that

         11  are in the terms that I have been using, in harms

         12  way, whether it is the Safety Net Program, whether

         13  it is PEL Grants, whether it is Vallone

         14  Scholarships, whether it is TAP, we have to ensure

         15  that these, and philanthropy, philanthropy is

         16  becoming a very powerful tool in this University for

         17  students on the entire spectrum in providing

         18  scholarship aid as well.

         19                 So we have to be very focused on this

         20  particular part of our budget from all of the

         21  sources that come in to support students, so that if

         22  there is a tuition increase, that no student would

         23  be prevented from maintaining their matriculation

         24  because of their inability to pay, and the Compact

         25  that we devised makes the assumption, and I think
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          2  that assumption is certainly supportable by the data

          3  that there will be sufficient financial aid, so that

          4  even a very modest increase would have virtually no

          5  material effect on any of the students that we have

          6  at this university because they would have a

          7  financial family profile that would certainly be

          8  covered by the various areas that we have in place

          9  now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you,

         11  Chancellor, and I know that with this population

         12  going to school on weekends especially, I did want

         13  to mention if you would consider for the adult

         14  students who go to school on weekends, day care for

         15  children? Have you given consideration to having a

         16  component of the weekend colleges that have a day

         17  care?

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I honestly do

         19  not- I do not have sufficient information on what we

         20  do for students that study on Saturday, and by the

         21  way, our campuses are busy seven days a week, you

         22  are absolutely right, which I think is a good thing

         23  because people have very complex lives, and they

         24  need to be able to access the university in lots of

         25  modalities and lots of different time schedules.
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          2  So, you are right that they are attending on

          3  Saturday and Sunday.  I honestly do not have the

          4  data in front of me to tell you what we provide in

          5  day care on the weekend.  I know much more during

          6  the week but I will get that for you and find out.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you,

          8  Chancellor.

          9                 Thank you for all of the work that

         10  you do, and keep it up, and we are here to support

         11  you.

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Before I go to Gale Brewer for her

         17  question, I do want to acknowledge that we have P.S.

         18  251.  Stand up, second and third graders are here.

         19  We want to welcome you.  They are from Springfield

         20  Gardens.  Their teacher is Ms. Jackie Pardewis

         21  (phonetic).  Oh, she is the tour guide, I thought

         22  you were the teacher.  Oh, you are the tour guide.

         23  Is there a teacher?

         24                 MS. HECK:  Ms. Heck.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Ms. Heck, we
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          2  just want to welcome all of you.

          3                 My name is Councilman Charles Barron,

          4  and this is the Committee on Higher Education.  When

          5  you want to go to college,

          6  there is the Chancellor, Matthew Goldstein from

          7  CUNY, and he will give you some tuition right now if

          8  you would like for your future. He is nice like

          9  that.

         10                 Any of you want to be President of

         11  the United States?  Anybody?  I just wanted to

         12  encourage you because even if you get a C, if you

         13  have a C average, you can be President because the

         14  President had a C average in college.  I suggest

         15  that you go for the A, go for the A, but if you land

         16  on a C, you can be President of the United States of

         17  America.  So, education is very, very important, and

         18  I thank you so much for coming by.

         19                 Give them another big hand clap.

         20                 Council Member Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         22  very much.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Chancellor,

         23  we had a good breakfast this morning led by

         24  President Travis, as you probably heard, talking

         25  about some of the Manhattan campuses.
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          2                 One of the big capital issues, I

          3  think, certainly John Jay is facing that, is the

          4  increased cost of materials, and I was just

          5  wondering if your capital plan addresses those?

          6                 You did elude to it when you talked

          7  about Fiterman but, certainly, even at John Jay the

          8  budget that was planned is now much more because of

          9  the steel and other concerns.

         10                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have been

         11  working very closely with the Governor.  We worked

         12  very closely with the Assembly, and the Senate, very

         13  much a part of capital ASK this year is

         14  enhancements, not for a particular new project but

         15  just for the escalating costs, and I am fairly

         16  confident that when this budget is put to bed, and

         17  hopefully it will be done very soon, that we will

         18  see monies provided in our capital budget that will

         19  address the needs of escalating costs.  That is a

         20  critical element.

         21                 The Katrina fiasco was, is very much

         22  driving steel costs, cement costs, even people who

         23  have the talents to do that work are in short supply

         24  because there has been such a diffusion of needs.

         25                 So, the answer is yes, and I do not
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          2  know what the number will be but it has been very

          3  high on our agenda.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The other

          5  question is, I know that you are talking about a

          6  Compact, and in the material that we got this

          7  morning indicates that the request for the CUNY

          8  Investment Plan, the first year cost of the plan, as

          9  you know, is $134 million, and the state and city

         10  would commit to providing funding to cover the

         11  University's mandatory costs; labor, energy and so

         12  on, and the 20 percent would be from the Investment.

         13    That is what I understand.  So, it is

         14  philanthropy, restructuring and enrollment growth.

         15  My question, and I guess tuition revenue policy.

         16                 My question is on the restructuring,

         17  it does seem to me that your university is extremely

         18  streamlined now, what are some of the greater

         19  efficiencies that you think you can deploy?

         20                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I think that

         21  any organization that is spending $2 billion a year

         22  in operating support, can always do more to effect

         23  efficiencies.  Procurement practices is probably one

         24  of the most cost efficient ways of managing the

         25  purchasing of things, whether we do it by, on a
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          2  campus basis, or whether we do it centrally, the

          3  differential is always a gap between what the cost

          4  would be doing it for one modality as opposed to

          5  another.

          6                 So, we are looking at that very, very

          7  carefully.               The way in which we provide

          8  telecommunications and other computing support is

          9  another example.  The way that we provide for energy

         10  costs, there are ways of using different kinds of

         11  fuels at the same time, whether it is oil and gas,

         12  and using and seeing how those markets fluctuates,

         13  and switching from one to the other, and we have

         14  some of that capacity.

         15                 Last night, I was with a group of

         16  scientists at the University who were working with

         17  me on sustainable energy.  A major, major focus that

         18  this University is going to have with respect to

         19  purchasing energy through wind, and through

         20  alternative fuels and so forth, so there are a

         21  panoply of ways in which we could, with good

         22  management, and smart people, and focus on these

         23  kinds of approaches that we could extract--.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It sounds

         25  like Allan Dobrin is in the room.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  He is very

          3  much involved in all of this.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, I hear

          5  him.

          6                 The other question I have is jobs in

          7  CUNY.  I know that we have had hearings recently

          8  about Small Business, which is one of the city

          9  departments, Economic Development Corporation, of

         10  course, you always have Empire, and you do as good a

         11  job as possible but as you suggest, there is always

         12  room for improvement, nursing being one but there

         13  are other areas that are a demand, and the question

         14  is how, given the unemployment, given the incredible

         15  resources of CUNY, are we looking at these sector

         16  issues before they become a crisis?  There are so

         17  many of them, it is not just a big, there are

         18  obviously smaller ones too.  I am not sure that the

         19  Workforce 1 Centers, I know you are working with

         20  them, particularly in the Bronx, 1199's model, I

         21  think I know some of them but I am just wondering,

         22  how do you focus on that?

         23                 Sometimes it is rapid response, it is

         24  a two- year program, I do not know but it does need

         25  more attention, and I am just wondering how you are
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          2  focusing on that?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We, Councilman

          4  (SIC) Brewer, we probably do more than any

          5  university I can think of in workforce development.

          6                 Prior to you sitting down today, I

          7  mentioned that the other day I gave a speech to the

          8  Workforce Investment Board of the City, and laid out

          9  a whole series of things that we are doing. We

         10  probably are spending about $70 million a year

         11  specifically on a whole variety of workforce issues,

         12  much of that money being funneled to the State

         13  through the Federal government, and then through

         14  various channels to the University.  So we are a

         15  major, major player, and see Workforce Development

         16  as a very fundamental component of the University's

         17  mission.  Can we do more? Do we have the capacity to

         18  do more?  Should we do more?  Yes, to all of the

         19  above but we are very committed to doing it, and we

         20  will continue to do it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I would

         22  appreciate perhaps, maybe either a copy of your

         23  speech, or a breakdown for the Committee on how the

         24  $71 million is spent.  I am not saying it is CUNY, I

         25  am just saying the streamlined approach person going
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          2  into Workforce 1, at 215 West 125th Street, or et

          3  cetera, any Department of Labor, how does all of

          4  this, kind of, work together?  And you should just

          5  know that this is not your problem, but it is our

          6  problem; unemployment, people on unemployment, they

          7  push the buttons, technology shows them how to do

          8  their resume at the Department of Labor, but there

          9  is no system to hook them into the one- stop or any

         10  other place to get a job.  That is just how it is.

         11  So, there are gaps, and perhaps we could work

         12  together to improve those gaps.

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I welcome

         14  that, and I will send you the speech, and also the

         15  background.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The

         17  breakdown.

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, just

         20  finally, I know, I am very supportive of the

         21  Creative Arts Team, known as CAT, CUNY has done a

         22  wonderful job of housing them in the professional

         23  studies, and I assume some of the funding that you

         24  talked about, generally, for professional studies or

         25  other programs would
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          2  include CAT.

          3                 Do you know?

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I am a big

          5  supporter of CAT. We inherited it from NYU.  It is

          6  flourishing at CUNY, we need more money.  It was in

          7  my testimony, and I can provide you with,

          8  specifically, a breakdown of what we would need.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right,

         10  and we will try to get them more money, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 And then, I know that we will hear

         13  later from the faculty, but I am just wondering is

         14  part of your budgeting to include more full- time,

         15  and to settle the contract issues?

         16                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  The

         17  fundamental theme of this administration, my

         18  administration, has always been to build on the

         19  academic life of our institution, and nothing is

         20  more fundamental to me than building a great

         21  faculty.

         22                 We have hired, since I became

         23  Chancellor, about 900 additional full- time faculty.

         24    If we get our Compact funded, as I hope that we

         25  will, we will be making commitments to hire several
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          2  hundred additional faculty over the next couple of

          3  years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and

          5  thank you very much.

          6                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Oh, and the

          7  contracts, I am as anxious to get this contract

          8  settled as anybody else, and hopefully we are

          9  getting near getting this resolved.  I certainly

         10  hope so.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Before I go to the next council

         16  member, Tony Avella who has questions, we have

         17  another class here, I want you to acknowledge up in

         18  the balcony, they are also from P.S. 251,

         19  Springfield Gardens.  Give them a big hand clap.

         20  Miss Blake is the teacher.

         21                 Hi Miss Blake.

         22                 Council Member Sanders, it this your

         23  district?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Yes, this is

         25  my district. I just wanted to say to the Chancellor,
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          2  and to his five staff that you are looking at your

          3  future graduates.  You are looking at your future,

          4  in fact, one or two of them would make excellent

          5  professors.  They were certainly telling me all that

          6  I had to know, but then again, all I had to know

          7  some say I learned in kindergarten.  But that is a

          8  different story for a different day.

          9                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair for

         10  this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just wanted to

         12  say to you, as we said to the class before, I am

         13  Chair Barron.  This is the Higher Education

         14  Committee, Charles Barron is my name.

         15                 This is Council Member Gale Brewer,

         16  and Council Member Tony Avella.  These are members

         17  of the Committee, and we just wanted to say to you

         18  study hard, and if you ever need money for your

         19  college education, see him, Chancellor Goldstein

         20  from CUNY, he has a lot of money for you to go to

         21  school, and if he cannot pay it, Jay Hirschenson

         22  will help to pay.  And if Jay is broke for whatever

         23  reason, see John Katowski, he also has money. All of

         24  these guys have plenty of money for you to go to

         25  school in the future, and as I told the other class-
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          2  anybody want to be President of the United States?

          3  Oh wow, this is very good, very good.  I was

          4  encouraging the students to- you have got to get A's

          5  but in the event that you get a C, you can be

          6  President because the present President had a C

          7  average in college, so try for the A's, but if you

          8  get the C, there is still hope.  You have got to

          9  keep hope alive.  There is still hope.

         10                 Thank you for coming by, we

         11  appreciate you.

         12                 Council Member Avella.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.

         15                 First of all, Chancellor, we are

         16  still in the morning, good morning.

         17                 I want to thank you for our

         18  conversation that we had before the hearing started

         19  to find out that you are moving ahead with the new

         20  directive for the Collanderance Institute

         21  (phonetic), that is good news.  And you started to

         22  address the question that I was going to raise, that

         23  Council Member Brewer raised, about the status of

         24  the negotiations with the Professional Staff

         25  Congress.           Can you just elude a little bit
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          2  more about where that is?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  This is I am

          4  told by our negotiating team that we are making real

          5  progress, and I am hoping that this will get

          6  resolved.

          7                 We have a wonderful distinguished

          8  faculty throughout the university.  We have

          9  wonderful support personnel.  They deserve a good

         10  raise.  They deserve- it has been too long, since

         11  this contract has been negotiated, so all of us, I

         12  think the union, the administration, I think we all

         13  would like to see this done as quickly as possible,

         14  and I am hopeful that we will see a resolution of

         15  this fairly soon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  In that part

         17  of the budget recommendations that you are making

         18  include allocations for future pay increases?

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  That does not-

         20  that is not part of our budget presentation.  Once

         21  we negotiate a contract, it is certainly, with very

         22  close coordination with both the State and the City,

         23  and that is funded outside of the general operating

         24  budget as a negotiation is finalized.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Just on that, I
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          2  just wanted to get clear because I get different

          3  signals.  Are there recommendations for mandatory

          4  salary increases and fringe benefit increases?  Or

          5  are there recommendations for below inflation

          6  salaries that would actually be a salary cut?

          7                 So, I just want to get clear because

          8  I have heard two things, whether it is a cut, or it

          9  is a raise.  Is that some of the stuff that is

         10  holding up the negotiations?  We really would like

         11  to see it get done, it has been three years.

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have a

         13  proposal on the table, which- this is a public

         14  university.  It is not a private university where we

         15  have degrees of freedom to put together a financial

         16  offer according to our own financial ability.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes.

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  The University

         19  is constrained to work within a certain set of

         20  guidelines that are very clearly articulated by the

         21  State of New York and the City of New York, and we

         22  have worked very closely trying to push that

         23  envelope as far as we can, and I think we are at a

         24  point where the State and the City has made it very

         25  clear that this if what they are prepared to fund,
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          2  and no more, and we have communicated that very

          3  effectively.

          4                 I suspect there are lots of

          5  negotiations now going on about how to provide the

          6  legitimate needs that the union is advocating on

          7  behalf of faculty and others, and we are going to

          8  try within the fiscal constraints that we have to

          9  accommodate this, and it has been a difficult three-

         10  and- a- half years.

         11                 The first year or so was more on

         12  procedural aspects, but in the last year or so, it

         13  has been very, very difficult because everybody

         14  wants to see a contract done.  I am hoping where we

         15  are now that we will get this done soon.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I am very

         17  hopeful for that too because just this contract in

         18  process, whether- we saw what happened with the

         19  Transit Workers Union, and people have to go through

         20  desperate means to get contracts resolved, and I

         21  just still want to be clear.

         22                 So just so I can be clear, are we

         23  recommending, or whomever the City, the State, CUNY

         24  below inflation salaries, in which it will be a cut

         25  or mandatory increases in salaries and fringe
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          2  benefits?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  There is no

          4  salary decreases at all.

          5                 Depending upon where you are in your

          6  rank at the University, there will be people at the

          7  end of this process, I would think, that their

          8  salary increases, because of where they are, will be

          9  above inflation for sure.  There is no doubt in my

         10  mind, and others probably near or maybe even

         11  slightly below inflation.  That will be depending

         12  upon where the individual is but we have a pot of

         13  money that has to be distributed to lots of

         14  different people that have different kinds of

         15  constraints, or opportunities.  If you are in within

         16  a given rank and there are opportunities for steps,

         17  those steps will certainly greatly enhance the basic

         18  offer.  If you are not, then the actual increase

         19  will be much less.  But, overall I think the entire

         20  package when you bring in what we are proposing, and

         21  with the increments that are built in, I think in

         22  general, it is the best that we could do under the

         23  circumstances of real constraints that this

         24  university has imposed by what the State and the

         25  City have defined as to what they are prepared to
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          2  spend.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, we

          4  certainly are hoping for a speedy resolution to the

          5  negotiations.

          6                 I have been meeting with Ms. Cecelia

          7  McCall, and she has come up with a great idea that

          8  we want everyone to try to get on board with and

          9  support, and that is the hunt to hire 100 diversity

         10  scholars in terms of faculty, full- time faculty,

         11  and faculty counselors, and we are going to try to

         12  get more people of color in faculty positions, and

         13  look at the City and the Council to support that.

         14                 So, we are looking for this

         15  initiative through Cecelia McCall and myself- we

         16  want the people to buy into that, and I will be

         17  talking to you more about that, and how we can get

         18  some funding for that to happen.

         19                 What types of positions would be

         20  categorized because I always see pedagogical and

         21  non- pedagogical?

         22                 Could you just talk just a little bit

         23  about that, the numbers in each if you have it?

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, by

         25  pedagogical we typically mean teaching positions at
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          2  all levels, and non pedagogical that would be

          3  instructional staff, would be academic support

          4  personnel that are not necessarily involved in

          5  teaching but supporting the students and the faculty

          6  as part of that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well just the

          8  numbers, I understood what you meant but just the

          9  numbers.

         10                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Now, when you

         11  mean numbers what, you mean how many do we have?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Like how many,

         13  right.

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have about

         15  6,300 full- time faculty at the University, and that

         16  goes from lecturers up through full professors,

         17  distinguished professors.

         18                 We have about, you know, I am not

         19  sure on the part time but probably something around

         20  9,000 or so part- time faculty.              We have

         21  about 40,000 employees of the University, part- time

         22  and full- time, so if you take out the 15,000

         23  instructional, you are about 25,000.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, so the

         25  40,000 includes the pedagogical with that?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, right.

          3  So it is about 25,000 versus--.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  25,000 non and

          5  15,000 okay.

          6                 TAP, what kind of impact with the- if

          7  they are talking about this 15 hours, and that is

          8  what the State is talking about now, of TAP

          9  requiring you to have 15 hours worth of classes,

         10  what kind of impact would that have on--?

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  That would

         12  have a really chilling effect on the university

         13  because we have large numbers of students that are

         14  eligible for TAP, which means as I said, there are

         15  about 83,000 students that now are getting some

         16  level of TAP but they all have to have a minimum of

         17  12 credits.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  The number of

         20  students that fall between 12 credits and just under

         21  15 credits is not inconsequential, and if the

         22  proposal that the governor is advancing or has

         23  advanced would see the light of day, those students

         24  in that particular bandwidth, over 12 but under 15

         25  would be seriously compromised by their ability--.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Do you know what

          3  that number is?

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I am told by

          5  Ernesto Malave it is about 40,000 students in asset.

          6                 I do not think that this is going to

          7  happen.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I do not know

          9  either.

         10                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I really- this

         11  is not in the recommendation of the Assembly

         12  conference.  It is not in the recommendation of the

         13  State conference, and my belief is that we will see

         14  at the end of this that that particular proposal

         15  will be back to what it was before is was in hands.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I do too.

         17                 I think that is it for me.

         18                 Thank you very much for your

         19  testimony, and we are going to continue to be very

         20  supportive of CUNY.  We just have a lot of things

         21  that we still have to do but I think we have

         22  overcome quite a few things as well.

         23                 So, thank you for your testimony.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you.

         25                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  We would like
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          2  to have Barbara Bowen come up.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes, you may

          4  proceed.

          5                 MS. BOWEN:  Good morning, I am

          6  Barbara Bowen.  I am President of the Professional

          7  Staff Union, which represents the faculty and

          8  instructional staff, and you were kind enough to

          9  inquire about our contract earlier on.

         10                 I want to speak about that in a

         11  minute because it is germane to questions of funding

         12  and the Council's budget, and I very much appreciate

         13  your concern and your recognition that that bears on

         14  the whole quality of education at CUNY.

         15                 I want to tell you a little bit of a

         16  different story about CUNY from the story that you

         17  have heard earlier today.

         18                 I recognize that there have been good

         19  things, and good advances that are being made but I

         20  think as the Council Higher Ed Committee, you need

         21  to know that there is another story going on.

         22                 I will just tell you about my own

         23  department, which is the Department of English at

         24  Queens College.  We had the opportunity to do some

         25  new hiring this year of full- time faculty. My
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          2  colleagues in the Department successfully recruited

          3  top candidates.  As a matter of interest, all of

          4  their top candidates were people of color, and they

          5  have had enormous difficulty in attracting those top

          6  candidates. I do not want to say too much because

          7  there are other excellent candidates who may come

          8  behind them, and may be hired but person after

          9  person said, "I would like to come to CUNY, I would

         10  very much like to be there.  It is, in fact, my

         11  first choice but instead, I am going to go to

         12  University of California.  I am going to go to X, Y,

         13  and Z college, where the salaries are $20,000

         14  higher."

         15                 We are not being able to attract the

         16  people we seek to attract if we want to have a

         17  serious university.  We have fabulous people at

         18  CUNY.  We have attracted extraordinary people, and

         19  that is because of the commitment of the faculty and

         20  staff to the mission of the University, to being in

         21  New York City, to teaching our students.  It is a

         22  tribute to all of them that they stay.  But I think

         23  you need to know, as the Council Committee that is

         24  responsible for higher education, that the

         25  systematic underfunding of CUNY, together with poor
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          2  contracts, has meant that the university is on a

          3  path toward ruin, in my view.  It is a formula for

          4  ruining the university.

          5                 Let me give you an example of that,

          6  and if we look at the funding of- state and city

          7  funding together, for CUNY from 1990 to 2006, in

          8  inflation adjusted dollars the state and city

          9  funding, the public funding, decreased by 30

         10  percent.  Tuition increased by 98 percent.  So,

         11  tuition doubled, funding cut by 30 percent.  That is

         12  not a formula for maintaining a good university.   If

         13  you look a little more closely, and now if you make

         14  a comparison between SUNY and CUNY, and here we have

         15  to look at state funding and that is for the senior

         16  colleges, in 1990 SUNY's per student funding was,

         17  well CUNY compared to SUNY, CUNY's funding was 81

         18  percent of SUNY per student funding in 1990, 81

         19  percent of CUNY compared to SUNY.  In 2003, which is

         20  the latest number we have, this is from the Regents,

         21  New York State Regents, the comparison was 55

         22  percent, CUNY compared to SUNY.

         23                 Now, both have been cut and obviously

         24  I am not advocating taking money from SUNY funding

         25  and putting into CUNY, SUNY funding has also been

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  cut but even within that, CUNY's funding has been

          3  cut more.  So now, per student, full- time

          4  equivalent student, at the state level for the

          5  senior colleges because I can only make the

          6  comparison with SUNY at the state level, the funding

          7  of CUNY per student is 55 percent of the funding of

          8  SUNY.  Now for me, it is impossible to separate that

          9  from the question of who goes to CUNY.

         10                 At CUNY as you know very well, our

         11  students are 72 percent people of color, and 62

         12  percent women.  It is hard for me to believe that

         13  there is no connection between the race, and gender,

         14  and class and urban nature of our student body, and

         15  that history of defunding.

         16                 So, I would ask the Council to keep

         17  in mind that as you think about restorations to the

         18  City budget, and I very much appreciate on behalf of

         19  our members, the work that you have done in the

         20  Council, and this Committee in particular, I know

         21  you are not all here but I know you will convey my

         22  thanks to them for the work you have done in this

         23  Committee to put restorations in the budget. We

         24  appreciate that, we notice it, we recognize that,

         25  and recognize you for it but you are up against a
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          2  history, a huge history.  It is not just this year,

          3  I mean, you are trying in each year to shovel back

          4  in money.  We are looking at 15 or more years of

          5  systematic deprivation of funds, and you put that

          6  together with concessionary contracts or contracts

          7  that are, in fact, below the level of inflation.

          8                 A contract offer that, the latest

          9  offer from the university at 12- something percent

         10  over almost five years, that is 2- something percent

         11  a year.  I will not go into the details of

         12  bargaining here, it is not appropriate but I think

         13  we should recognize what that package is, and I want

         14  to talk in a minute about the constraints there.

         15                 Those two things, the contract

         16  amounts plus the defunding have left CUNY begging.

         17  I mean, they have left CUNY begging, and everything

         18  you do to restore money is against the backdrop of

         19  this enormous hole, this drain on the budget that

         20  has occurred over the last 15 years, and that is

         21  something I would like us in the future to tackle

         22  together, to tackle head on, to get at the causes,

         23  to understand the prejudice against an urban,

         24  democratic college in this city.  I think we really

         25  have to name that in this state, and go after it.
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          2                 Just to speak very briefly about

          3  collective bargaining, one thing I think might be

          4  helpful for us to recognize is that- well, one quick

          5  correction and the Chancellor said that we spend a

          6  year on procedural issues.  That was not true, it

          7  was actually 18 months before the university offered

          8  us a penny, and at that point they offered us 1.5

          9  percent total, stretched over four years, that was

         10  their opening salvo.  Not a good beginning.  We

         11  spent a couple of sessions on procedures, so that

         12  was not really correct.

         13                 But the main point I wanted to make

         14  is that issue of the constraints.

         15                 As you know, the city and state

         16  operating in collective bargaining patterns, right,

         17  they try to bring in a low number, and with one

         18  union, and they say that that is the pattern in all

         19  the unions.  We saw this with TWU, all the unions

         20  must stay underneath that ceiling.  That approach

         21  has many problems, and every other union would talk

         22  about that but for a university in particular, it is

         23  a very faulty basis for salaries, and that is

         24  because the idea of those patterns is based on local

         25  markets.  They are based on the idea that you
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          2  recruit teachers, police, fire fighters, even at

          3  high salary positions, those are recruited locally;

          4  New York City and surrounding area.  Only the

          5  university out of all those who were in the

          6  collective bargaining pattern in New York City

          7  recruits nationally, and even internationally.

          8                 So for the city and state to hold the

          9  University to patterns whose basis is locality, is

         10  nonsense.  It does not make sense for a university.

         11  I understand pattern bargaining, and the politics of

         12  that but the idea of a pattern that is based on

         13  locality is unworkable for a university when we are

         14  not competing in the local area at all.

         15                 When you do a search for an academic

         16  job, you get, I mean, we have over 400 applications

         17  in my department for these jobs, and there are

         18  people from California, Arizona, Texas, New York,

         19  Maine, everyplace else.  It is not a local search.

         20  The conditions that matter, the market that matters

         21  is not a New York market, it is of course New York

         22  cost of living but it is the national market.  Those

         23  candidates are comparing their salaries, not to a

         24  nearby school in Nassau County, they are comparing

         25  it to Dartmouth, Berkeley, USC, University of
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          2  Arizona, whatever, University of Delaware, I mean it

          3  is not just elite schools to whom we compare

          4  unfavorably.

          5                 So I ask you, as you think about, I

          6  know you do not, luckily for you, you do not deal

          7  with the collective bargaining, but as you think

          8  about that as you hear  about the pattern, I just

          9  ask you to keep in mind, and you are such good

         10  advocates, to think about how that pattern does not

         11  work for CUNY.

         12                 I just would like to speak quickly to

         13  finish about some particular restorations that the

         14  PSC strongly urges you to support.

         15                 We joined the university in calling

         16  for restorations of the budget, the university has

         17  identified $38.1 million in restoration and the PSC

         18  supports that.  The University has also identified

         19  $19.6 million in enhancements, we support that, and

         20  we call for some additional enhancements.

         21                 I just want to focus on a couple of

         22  the restorations, one is the Safety Net Program,

         23  that is $4.5 million. I think it was Councilman

         24  Seabrook earlier who spoke to the need to make sure

         25  that every student has an opportunity, not just the
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          2  thinner layer of students who are going to be

          3  courted, not only by CUNY but elsewhere too.

          4                 The Vallone Scholarships are

          5  important, they are wonderful but they do go after

          6  the student with the B average. Some of our students

          7  put up with incredible hardships in high school.

          8  They cannot get a B average, they are working, they

          9  are struggling, they do not get a good breakfast.  I

         10  mean, there are things that our students contend

         11  with that I never contended with, and it is hard to

         12  get a B average for some of our students.  I mean, I

         13  just say that honestly, and I think it is great to

         14  reward those students but we also need a need- based

         15  scholarship, we need a need- based scholarship, and

         16  I commend the Council for responding to that

         17  initiative and having the courage to put in a need-

         18  based scholarship.

         19                 I ask you on behalf of the union to

         20  put in restorations to the Safety Net Program.

         21                 I would also like to commend the

         22  Council on the council initiatives, like the Black

         23  Male Initiative and Dominican Studies, the Puerto

         24  Rican Study Center, the Centers for Worker

         25  Education, those are critical.  They are not huge
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          2  amounts but you have guided those, they have changed

          3  people's lives, each of those Centers.  And they

          4  also do breakthrough intellectual work, and I just

          5  want to pause on that for a second because I think,

          6  too often, we think about constituencies and people

          7  being served.

          8                 When we have a Puerto Rican Studies

          9  Institute, that changes the way we see, not just

         10  Puerto Rican Studies, or in the case of the Italian-

         11  American Institute, it changes not just that but it

         12  changes the way we see everything else.  We see the

         13  whole of American history differently if we

         14  understand Italian- American history.  We see the

         15  whole of American history differently if we

         16  understand African- American history.  It is a

         17  different story.  So those Institutes not only look

         18  at a special interest, they actually call on us to

         19  revise everything we know, and those are places,

         20  sort of fulcrums, from which you can see the rest of

         21  knowledge, and that is one of the reasons that they

         22  are so important, the work they do revises and

         23  reframes and recasts everything else we know.  So, I

         24  would really ask you to concentrate as you have in

         25  making sure funding goes to restorations of those.
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          2                 On the operating budget, again, with

          3  the backdrop that I described earlier, of desperate

          4  funding and tremendous drops in funding from CUNY

          5  since 1990, we need the restoration of the operating

          6  budget.  To take money out of that is criminal, as

          7  far as I am concerned.  I mean it is criminal, and

          8  for us in the faculty, it is hard to understand it

          9  as anything but an attack on the University.  This

         10  is a year with a surplus.  This is the year to put

         11  money back in, when there is a budget surplus, for

         12  us to hear that funds are being taken out of CUNY,

         13  can for us, be read only one way, that is that the

         14  City wants to hurt the City University, and if that

         15  is not the message that the city wants to send, then

         16  they have to put the funding in.

         17                 We still have a majority of courses

         18  at the community colleges being taught by part-

         19  timers despite the fact that new hires have been

         20  made, it still a majority of part- timers.  They are

         21  terrific and dedicated teachers but imagine having a

         22  teacher whom you never see again, they do not have

         23  an office, they do not have a phone.  There are 70

         24  part- timers in the English Department at Borough of

         25  Manhattan Community Colleges who are in one office.

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  They share one little office, 70, I mean that is not

          3  a way in which any student can get any kind of

          4  education, and typically, the earlier in your career

          5  you are, the more you are at a community college,

          6  the poorer you are, the more likely you are to be

          7  taught by a part- time faculty member.  As you go up

          8  the ranks, you are more likely to get a full- timer

          9  in those critical, initial years, you are most

         10  likely to be with a part- time faculty member who is

         11  underfunded herself.

         12                 Finally two things, one is we- you

         13  spoke about the Compact, the PSC has taken the

         14  position that that is not an efficient way, or an

         15  ethical way to fund CUNY.  We understand the

         16  attractiveness of it but, in fact, it does not hold

         17  the City and State accountable for their public

         18  funding.  It provides, it looks at other sources

         19  including students, and that is not acceptable.

         20  Maybe if the history has been great we could do

         21  that, but given this history, no.

         22                 Finally, Council Member Barron spoke

         23  about the initiative from the PCS under the guidance

         24  of Cecelia McCall, who could not be here, she is in

         25  Washington today, for a new initiative for diversity
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          2  scholars.  We are looking for $5.4 million to hire

          3  100 diversity scholars, and that would be to ask the

          4  Council and the City to identify a relatively small

          5  amount, $5.4 million to put in for a one- time

          6  hiring of 100 new positions for which the

          7  eligibility would be limited, and for which there

          8  would be sufficient funding to attract people of

          9  color because what we are finding is that the

         10  strong, strong candidates who are now coming out of

         11  graduate school who are minority candidates are, as

         12  I said earlier, are drawn to CUNY intellectually and

         13  politically, and ethically but they just feel it is

         14  professional suicide to come to CUNY, and we cannot

         15  have that.  So, we needs some supports like research

         16  time and various things that we can explain to you

         17  which will impact on that number but we need to put

         18  aside some lines freshly, and make sure they are

         19  well enough supported within the contract, there are

         20  ways of doing that, so that people can come to CUNY,

         21  and are attracted here and will stay, and that we

         22  begin to move the faculty body in composition closer

         23  to the diversity of our student body, and that is

         24  one of our aims.  That would include, as you said

         25  Councilman Barron, both teaching faculty in the
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          2  classroom and faculty counselors, which we have a

          3  tremendous shortage of.

          4                 So, that is what the PSC is calling

          5  on you to do, with thanks for the work you have done

          6  so far; those specific restorations, and asking you

          7  in this year of a budget surplus to help us become a

          8  voice for saying what has happened to CUNY in the

          9  last 15 years is not acceptable if there is any

         10  commitment at all to higher education, which is

         11  necessary.  It is not a luxury, higher education is

         12  a necessity in this economy.  To take that away from

         13  people or make it so difficult to do, and so sub-

         14  standard in its support is a way to undermine the

         15  chances of the next generation of New Yorkers, and I

         16  do not think we want to do that.             So, the

         17  union stands ready to work with you on that.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, thank you

         20  very much for your testimony.

         21                 I just have a couple of questions.

         22                 One, I want to get an understanding,

         23  I have always been a little confused on who is

         24  responsible for not hiring faculty of color within

         25  the system.  When it goes to department heads, what
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          2  role does administration play, and what is it?  What

          3  about the faculty members who are the chairs, and

          4  what role do they play because I get confused on who

          5  is really responsible for it not happening?

          6                 MS. BOWEN:  I think there are a

          7  number of factors in that, and it depends on the

          8  department.

          9                 In the example I just gave you of my

         10  own department, they did recruit and choose people

         11  of color as their top candidates, and they may still

         12  be able to attract some people of color as top

         13  candidates but the first group they choose, and they

         14  made job offers to were, as I understand it, all

         15  people of color, and in that case, this is one

         16  scenario, in that case unfortunately, the

         17  individuals felt much as they wanted to be there,

         18  that they needed to have some time to advance in

         19  their own careers, and that would not be supported

         20  at CUNY.

         21                 So, that is one instance where, in

         22  fact, the offers were not made, and that has

         23  happened in some cases and the individual feels,`I

         24  cannot do it'.  That is one case.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So offers were
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          2  made but the salaries just were not attractive

          3  enough for them?

          4                 MS. BOWEN:  In some case, I mean

          5  again, it is not correct for me to talk about

          6  individuals but, yes, that has happened.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But the bottom

          8  line is the Chair that could do the hiring--.

          9                 MS. BOWEN:  Well, there is a

         10  committee at the department level, they do the

         11  interviews and everything else, and the Chair makes

         12  the offer, and then one scenario is offers are made,

         13  and for understandable reasons the person feels,`I

         14  cannot come.'

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But the

         16  administration does not necessarily play a role

         17  in--?

         18                 MS. BOWEN:  They have to approve the

         19  hire, different colleges there is different levels

         20  of micromanagement in approving.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But that is like

         22  a stamp of approval?

         23                 MS. BOWEN:  In some, in others its a

         24  much more intrusive role.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So the challenge
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          2  is to make the offer more attractive?

          3                 MS. BOWEN:  That is one scenario.  I

          4  want to be honest with you, that is one scenario.

          5  Another scenario is difficulty in identifying

          6  candidates, I mean, it depends on the field.  Some

          7  departments make an enormous effort, and some do

          8  not.           I mean, I want to be frank with you

          9  in terms of recruitment--.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes, see I did

         11  not mean to cut you off but that is part of my

         12  concern.

         13                 MS. BOWEN:  I think it is a serious

         14  concern.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  The role that

         16  the faculty plays in some colleges, I will say it,

         17  like Baruch and some other colleges where I see that

         18  there is some really concerns of what happens on a

         19  faculty level in getting faculty of color in there

         20  because sometimes we have faculty of color because

         21  they have come to me where the same PHD's,

         22  qualified, was willing to except the offer but could

         23  not get past the department chair, the faculty

         24  itself, and we have to do something about that

         25  problem because that is an internal problem that has
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          2  to be addressed on the chair level because there is,

          3  and as a matter of fact, I will get them to you as

          4  they come to me, I will share them with you.

          5                 MS. BOWEN:  I agree with you.  I

          6  would love to, right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Because I have

          8  had several that have come where they got through

          9  everything and they were willing to accept whatever

         10  the offer was, and they seem impeccably qualified to

         11  me, and they did not get the job.

         12                 MS. BOWEN:  And they did not get the

         13  job.

         14                 I certainly know that that can be the

         15  case, I mean, I think that it is- there are a number

         16  of possibilities.  I will just mention one more.

         17                 One thing is that with so few hires,

         18  I mean, in 1972 we had 11,000 full- time faculty,

         19  now we have gone up from where we were, at a kind of

         20  nadir, but now we are at 6,000.  That is still 5,000

         21  full- time positions down, so, if you imagine hiring

         22  5,000 full- time positions back into CUNY, if

         23  somebody suddenly sees the light, and those 5,000

         24  positions are restored, that gives a much greater

         25  opportunity for hiring.
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          2                 So one thing is, it is every seven

          3  years that your department gets to hire, and there

          4  were 400 applications for the job.  There are people

          5  with two books, and they have gone to Harvard and

          6  Princeton and everything else.  I mean, it is very

          7  difficult situation in that culture of scarcity that

          8  we now have. But I agree with you that that builds

          9  up over time, and if you do not have a critical mass

         10  of people of color in the department, or the

         11  college, then there are fewer to sit on the hiring

         12  committee's, there are fewer to look at the

         13  credentials.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.

         15                 MS. BOWEN:  There are fewer to create

         16  an atmosphere the is comfortable for a minority

         17  candidate in hiring.  I think all those things are

         18  factors, and if we do not get the critical mass,

         19  then it conveys also a message, you walk in a room

         20  and you see five white men, and you are an Asian-

         21  American woman, and you think "well, will I be

         22  comfortable here?"  Or there are certain signals

         23  given off in the interviews, that people do not

         24  intend to do.

         25                 So, I think one thing that we have
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          2  called on from the Chancellor is to put some money

          3  where his mouth is about hiring and diversity.  I

          4  recognize that the Chancellor has, to his credit,

          5  identified the problem but there needs to be some

          6  institutional support behind that to say, "we are

          7  not going to do this without a serious commitment to

          8  doing it", and that means money for searches to go

          9  and find the people.  They are not just necessarily

         10  going to walk in our door.  We have to go out and

         11  aggressively look for them, and that takes money to

         12  fly to the conferences and everything else.  We do

         13  not have that money at CUNY.  Other places do, and

         14  they are recruiting, we are not.  Some departments

         15  are, but generally we do not have that money, so we

         16  are asking the PSC, we have put in our contract

         17  demands, an additional small amount of funding for a

         18  diversity initiative to do just that, and the

         19  University turned it down.  It was for a very small

         20  amount, and the University turned it down.  We are

         21  calling on the Chancellor to really put some funding

         22  behind that because the problem is institutionalized

         23  racism, and it--.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  How much was it?

         25                 MS. BOWEN:  It was $2 million I
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          2  think, I will have to check.  I will get back to

          3  you, but I think it was $2 million. It was a one-

          4  shot, it was not a recurring- I will check but it

          5  was a small amount.  I think it should go in there.

          6  I mean, if we could get that back in there I would

          7  be thrilled.  The problem is huge.

          8                 I mean, it is a history of racism, it

          9  is a history of sexism, and we all have to re-

         10  educate ourselves I think, and it is going to take a

         11  collective effort but I think money can help

         12  tremendously to put programmatic money.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  The $5.4 million

         14  for the diversity scholars, how would that work?

         15  What would that be for?

         16                 MS. BOWEN:  Well, we would want to

         17  talk to the University about that if we go forward

         18  with it.  It would be money to cover new lines.

         19  That is an approximate amount based on the

         20  universities other calculations for what new lines

         21  cost.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  It would make

         23  the salaries competitive?

         24                 MS. BOWEN:  It would make the

         25  salaries competitive, and I think what we would need
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          2  to do is put on some additions that again, are

          3  within the scope of the contract but some additional

          4  support of mentoring, reduced course load for a

          5  certain period so that people can get their

          6  scholarship done.  There are tremendous demands put

          7  on, I do not need to tell you this, on young faculty

          8  of color because we have so few, and every single

          9  committee wants one on that committee.  So, you are

         10  running around doing every single thing, and that

         11  takes your time.  Also, students are longing for

         12  you.  There are huge lines going out the office

         13  doors of many, many, many of our faculty of color,

         14  and many white faculty too.

         15                 I mean, I always had big lines myself

         16  but there is a tremendous need, so those people are

         17  called on much, much more. They need some extra time

         18  to get their work done, and they need some extra

         19  support, so those lines might come with some

         20  enhancements in order to provide support so people

         21  can succeed, get tenure, feel that CUNY has invested

         22  in them, and not be looking around after two years

         23  for a job that will support them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, I want to

         25  thank you for your continued hard work to bring a
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          2  fair salary to faculty, to improve the quality of

          3  faculty, to working with us on getting more faculty

          4  of color, the initiative that Cecelia has come up

          5  with, and your other efforts and the struggle

          6  period.  You have been a stalwart in our struggle in

          7  that, and I thank you for your testimony.

          8                 Tony do you have any questions?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thanks.

         10                 I have one quick question.  I was

         11  wondering, would you like to comment on the answer

         12  that the Chancellor gave me when I asked him the

         13  question about`are you, in your budget submission,

         14  putting in some additional money, assuming that

         15  there is going to be a contract, a resolution?'

         16                 I was sort of surprised by the answer

         17  but I am curious to know your response.

         18                 MS. BOWEN:  Thank you.

         19                 Normally, when we do come to a

         20  contract, a paybill is passed in Albany, and the

         21  City is then asked to put in its share of whatever

         22  the amount is.

         23                 Sometimes the budgets for CUNY

         24  include a projected increase of a certain amount for

         25  collective bargaining but I think what the
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          2  Chancellor was pointing to was that the City is

          3  normally, as part of the collective bargaining, the

          4  City anticipates X million dollars that would be

          5  additional for collective bargaining, and when they

          6  are saying to us`you cannot have any more money',

          7  they are thinking of that pot of money.  And in the

          8  last round of collective bargaining, to his credit,

          9  Mayor Bloomberg made sure that the City put in its

         10  share of the City's costs.

         11                 In the past, under Mayor Giuliani,

         12  the City did not put in its share, and it asked the

         13  community colleges, the City part, the State did it

         14  but the City part asked the community colleges to

         15  absorb the costs of collective bargaining out of

         16  their budget.  So, you can imagine the hostility to

         17  any increase there, and we felt as faculty, very

         18  constrained because we thought it was going to come

         19  out of the students.

         20                 The Chancellor and I worked together

         21  with Mayor Bloomberg successfully in the last round,

         22  and he did the right thing.  He said it is wrong not

         23  to put the money in.  We are counting on him to do

         24  the same this time, to put the City's share of the

         25  money in addition into the budget.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 MS. BOWEN:  Thank you, thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just want to

          7  get another clarity because I want to ask the

          8  Chancellor about the raising

          9  the- below inflation.  Is that a cut or is it a

         10  moderate increase?

         11                 MS. BOWEN:  Okay, I am glad you asked

         12  about that.

         13                 We have a proposal- the union has a

         14  counter proposal on the table, so I am not going to

         15  comment too much but I will answer that, and the big

         16  issue is the one that I started with of the

         17  constraints, and the inappropriateness of this city

         18  and state pattern, which this time is below

         19  inflation.

         20                 What the Chancellor was referring to

         21  is that we have steps in our salary structure that

         22  recognize peoples experience and increased ability

         23  as they progress, and our salaries remain way below

         24  the national average but we do have something the

         25  union bargained for which is seniority steps as you
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          2  progress.  You can be moving through those steps but

          3  the value of each step is diminished if the amount

          4  put on that step is not, at least, at the level of

          5  inflation.

          6                 So, our top step let us say $93,000,

          7  we have 1,067 people in the faculty line at that top

          8  step.  If we have an increase of what the Chancellor

          9  has put in his material, about 9.5 percent over four

         10  years, ten months, that person's salary will go up

         11  9.5 percent over close to five years.  While that is

         12  an increase in nominal dollars, it is not keeping up

         13  with inflation.  For anybody who is at a certain

         14  salary level, your contractual increase, however we

         15  look at it, we cannot see it as above the level

         16  inflation.  I mean, twelve- something percent, and

         17  you could say the same for other unions.  SUNY's

         18  salary increase was about ten percent over four

         19  year, 9.5 over four years, you cannot call that

         20  continent with inflation.  What the Chancellor

         21  mixing was the salary steps, and contractual

         22  increase, and I think the point to look at is what

         23  is the value of that step?

         24                 If the starting salary for a

         25  professor now is whatever it is, $40,000 or $39,000,
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          2  the value of that step, is

          3  that going to keep up with inflation or not?  That

          4  is the question, and so that is how I think I would

          5  explain the difference between our--.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right, so

          7  technically it may not be a cut but if it does not

          8  keep up inflation, you are behind, in a sense.

          9                 MS. BOWEN:  You are behind.  I mean,

         10  the union has made a proposal to bring it to a

         11  settlement, and we are being frank with our members

         12  about what is and is not fair, and we seek to get

         13  the best thing we can for our members at this

         14  moment.  We are going to be straightforward with

         15  them, but I do not think we should call it something

         16  that it is not.  If it is not at a level of salary

         17  that will actually keep up with inflation, then I

         18  think we should name that, and there are many, many

         19  good things in the proposals that the union worked

         20  out.  We have brought many good things in there, and

         21  I think they are very strong things for the faculty

         22  and staff, and reversals of concessions from the

         23  past, and some very good things, but I want to be

         24  straight about the amount of money, and we cannot

         25  call it sufficient at the level of inflation as is.
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          2  Even the whole package, 12- something percent over

          3  four years, ten months, that does not keep up with

          4  inflation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

          6  much for your testimony, and with that, this meeting

          7  is adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:07 p.m.)
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